THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001034
Case No. 2022-CP-40-00654

Ethan Tyler Vanfossen and Corey J. Davis, on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly situated Respondents,

v.

Love Chevrolet Company Appellant,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sarah T. Eibling, Esquire
Blake T. Williams, Esquire
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-2000

Joseph G. Studemeyer, Esquire
Sudemeyer Law Firm
PO Box 1014
Irmo, SC 29063

*Attorneys for Appellant Love Chevrolet
Company*

RECEIVED

Mar 11 2024

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err by failing to apply the *Prima Paint* doctrine and compel the matter to arbitration for the arbitrator to decide gateway issues such as arbitrability?
- II. Did the circuit court err by determining that Appellant could not enforce the Arbitration Agreements following their incorporation into Retail Installment Contracts?
- III. Did the circuit court err by finding that the Arbitration Agreements were assigned where there was no manifestation of intent by Appellant to do so?
- IV. Did the circuit court err by finding that Respondents' claims arise under their Retail Installment Contracts rather than their Records of Purchase?
- V. Did the circuit court err in refusing to compel arbitration of Respondent Davis's claims where Plaintiff provided no evidence supporting the terms of his Retail Installment Contract and his contention that it was assigned?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 29, 2020, Plaintiff Ethan Tyler Vanfossen (“Vanfossen”) came to Defendant Love Chevrolet Company’s (“Love”) automobile dealership in Columbia, South Carolina. (Compl. ¶ 12; R. 29.) Vanfossen alleges that he informed a Love salesperson that he needed a truck with the ability to pull a large trailer. (*Id.*) Vanfossen claims he purchased a 2020 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 that Love advertised and represented as having a towing capacity of 12,000 lbs. (*Id.* ¶¶ 13-14; R. 29). According to Vanfossen, he later discovered that the actual towing capacity of the truck he purchased was 6,600 lbs. (*Id.* ¶ 15; R. 29.) Vanfossen claims he experienced “significant difficulties” when he attempted to use the purchased truck to pull his trailer. (*Id.* ¶ 16; R. 29.)

Similarly, on September 7, 2020, Plaintiff Corey J. Davis (“Davis,” and collectively with Vanfossen, “Plaintiffs”) came to Love in need of a truck capable of pulling a trailer with livestock. (*Id.* ¶ 19; R. 30.) Davis alleges he purchased a 2020 Chevrolet Silverado based on Love’s advertisements and representations of the truck’s 12,000-lb. towing capacity. (*Id.* ¶¶ 20-21; R. 30.) According to Davis, when he attempted to use the truck to pull a trailer with livestock, the truck “was not capable of towing it.” (*Id.* ¶ 22; R.30.)

In purchasing their vehicles, each Plaintiff signed a Record of Purchase¹ for the truck and a Retail Installment Sale Contract (“RISC”) to finance the truck.² (*See* Vanfossen and Davis Records of Purchase, Ex. A to Am. Answer; R. 15.) Plaintiffs also both executed standalone

¹ The Record of Purchase contains an additional arbitration clause that was separately initialed and acknowledged by Plaintiffs. (*See* Vanfossen and Davis Records of Purchase, Ex. A to Am. Answer; R. 15)

² As detailed below, the RISC for Plaintiff Davis is not part of the Record.

Arbitration Agreements. (*See* Arbitration Agreements, Ex. A to Aff. in Supp. of Motion to Stay and Compel Arb.; R. 147.)

Both Arbitration Agreements provided that they “evidence[] a transaction involving interstate commerce,” and the parties acknowledged and agreed that the Federal Arbitration Act would apply and preempt state law. (Aff. & Exhibit; R. 145.) Moreover, the Arbitration Agreements provided that “[a]ll ‘gateway matters’ concerning the existence, applicability, and validity” of the Arbitration Agreements “shall be resolved by the arbitrator.” (*Id.*) Each Arbitration Agreement further states that it is “incorporated into and made a part of all Contract(s) as defined in th[e Arbitration] Agreement.” (*Id.*) Finally, “Contract(s)” is defined within the Arbitration Agreement as “any agreement(s) between [Vanfossen or Davis] and [Love] regarding the sale, lease, financing, service or maintenance of the Vehicle.” (*Id.*)

Plaintiffs initiated the underlying action by filing their Complaint on February 7, 2022. In their Complaint, the Plaintiffs allege Love misrepresented the towing capacity of the 2020 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 pickup trucks that they purchased from Love.³ Plaintiffs assert claims for violation of the Dealers Act, breach of express and implied warranties, and negligent misrepresentation. (*See generally* Compl.; R. 26)

On April 13, 2022, Love filed an Answer denying the material allegations of the Complaint. (*See* Answer; R. 21.) Love reserved its right to move to stay and to compel arbitration.

On April 14, 2022, Love filed a Motion to Stay and to Compel Arbitration with a supporting affidavit attaching the Arbitration Agreements that Plaintiffs executed. (Mot. to Compel; Aff. in Supp. & Exhibit; R. 143, 145.) On November 7, 2022, Love filed a Memorandum in Support of

³ This appeal is limited to Vanfossen and Davis’s transactions with Love only, as Vanfossen and Davis are the only named Plaintiffs. Although they seek to serve as representatives of those similarly situated, the circuit court has not yet determined whether a class should be certified.

its Motion to Compel Arbitration. (Mem. in Supp.; R. 128.) In its memorandum, Love argued that because it had entered into binding Arbitration Agreements governed by the Federal Arbitration Act with both Plaintiffs and the Arbitration Agreements were not substantively unconscionable, its motion should be granted. (*Id.* at 5-9; R. 132-136.)

On November 9, 2022, Plaintiffs filed a Response in Opposition to Motion to Stay & Compel Arbitration. (Resp. in Opp'n; R. 111.) Plaintiffs argued, *inter alia*, that Love had assigned all its rights to compel arbitration when Love assigned the RISCs to GM Financial. (*Id.* at 5-6; R. 115-116.) Plaintiffs highlighted the Arbitration Agreements' "incorporation" language and asserted that the definition of "contracts" included the RISC. Plaintiffs submitted a copy of the RISC between Love and Vanfossen as an exhibit to their memorandum. (Vanfossen RISC, Ex. B to Resp. in Opp'n; R. 109.) However, they *never* submitted the RISC between Davis and Love (and thus there is no such RISC in the Record). Nevertheless, they contended that the Vanfossen RISC identified Love as the Seller-Creditor and stated that it "contains the entire agreement between [buyer] and [Love] relating to this contract," and that since the RISC was assigned to GM Financial, this extinguished Love's rights to compel arbitration under the Arbitration Agreement.

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion to compel arbitration on April 17, 2023. On May 12, 2023, court issued an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration. The circuit court held that Love had assigned its rights to compel arbitration of Plaintiffs' claims when it assigned the subject RISCs to GM Financial, which extinguished its right to enforce the Arbitration Agreements. (Order Denying Mot. to Stay and Compel Arbitration; R. 4.)

On May 22, 2023, Love filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Love asserting, *inter alia*, that: (1) no evidence of assignment had been presented as to Davis; (2) the standalone Arbitration Agreements had not been assigned; and (3) Love retained contracts with Vanfossen and Davis into

which the standalone Arbitration Agreements had been incorporated. (Mot. to Alter or Amend; R. 75.) On June 6, 2023, the circuit court issued an Order denying Love’s motion. (Order Denying Mot. to Alter or Amend; R. 1.) This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review.” *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (citing *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012)). “[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Id.* (quoting *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000)). The court must honor “**factual findings** of the circuit court pertinent to its arbitration ruling **if** those findings are reasonably supported by evidence in the record.” *Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 382, 892 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2023) (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred by failing to apply the *Prima Paint* doctrine and compel this matter to arbitration for the arbitrator to decide gateway issues such as arbitrability.

The circuit court denied Love’s motion to compel arbitration “based on assignability and *Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 432 S.C. 328, 332, 852 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2020).” (Order at 2; R. 5.) As the circuit court explained, in *Sanders* this Court held that once a dealer assigns a contract containing an arbitration clause, it may no longer rely on that clause to compel arbitration. (*Id.* at 3; R. 6.)

However, the Supreme Court recently reversed *Sanders*, finding that the circuit court should have applied the *Prima Paint* doctrine and compelled arbitration to allow an arbitrator to determine whether the dealer retained the right to compel arbitration after assignment of the RISC. *Sanders*, 440 S.C. at 392, 892 S.E.2d at 119-20. Therefore, regardless

of whether the purported assignments may have extinguished Love's right to compel arbitration, the circuit court erred in denying Love's motion because the parties' agreements contemplated that an arbitrator would decide issues of arbitrability.

In *Sanders*, the plaintiff alleged that a motor vehicle dealer made misrepresentations about the plaintiff's income, which led to the lender accepting assignment of the RISC. *Sanders*, 440 S.C. at 381, 892 S.E.2d at 113. As a result of the dealer's misrepresentations, the plaintiff alleged that he received high monthly payments and eventually had his vehicle repossessed by the RISC's assignee due to untimely payments. *Id.* Plaintiff filed suit and the dealer moved to compel arbitration. A central issue became whether the assignment prevented the dealer from compelling arbitration. Ultimately, the Supreme Court held "the *Prima Paint* doctrine **requires** the arbitrator to decide whether the assignment extinguished [defendant's] right to compel arbitration." *Id.* at 383, 892 S.E.2d at 115 (emphasis added).

In *Prima Paint*, the plaintiff alleged the defendant fraudulently induced it to enter into a contract containing an arbitration provision. The plaintiff did not challenge the arbitration provision directly, but rather claimed the provision was void because the encompassing contract was void. *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 338 U.S. 395 (1967). The defendant moved to stay pending arbitration, which the lower court granted. The matter eventually made its way to the Supreme Court, which held that "the arbitrator had to resolve the plaintiff's claim" because the FAA restricts the judiciary's role and "a court may consider only issues relating to the making and performance of the agreement to arbitrate." *Sanders*, 440 S.C. at 385, 892 S.E.2d at 116 (quoting *Prima Paint Corp.*, 338 U.S. at 404). Against this backdrop, the *Sanders* court found an arbitrator "**must** decide the gateway question of whether [defendant] retained the right to compel arbitration after assignment of the RISC." *Id.* at 392, 892 S.E.2d at 120 (emphasis added).

Here, just like *Sanders*, the Arbitration Agreements expressly provide that the arbitrator will determine all gateway matters regarding arbitrability. The holding of *Sanders* is on all fours with this case and **requires** reversal (even if Plaintiffs were correct about the effect of the alleged “assignment” here, which they are not).

II. The circuit court erred by determining that the Arbitration Agreements’ independent function was extinguished upon their incorporation into the RISC.

The mere fact that a separate contract incorporates another agreement by reference does not extinguish the incorporated agreement. This is especially true where, as here, the incorporated agreement is incorporated into multiple contracts. The circuit court’s conclusion that Love’s assignment of the RISC to GM Financial caused Love to be stripped of all rights to compel arbitration is grounded in a misapprehension of the phrase “incorporated into and made a part of.”

“Incorporation by reference” is defined as a “method of making a secondary document part of primary document by including in the primary document a statement that the secondary document should be treated as if it were contained within the primary one.” Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). South Carolina law is clear that one contract may incorporate another by reference. *Shaw v. East Coast Builders of Columbia*, 291 S.C. 482, 354 S.E.2d 392 (1987) (citing *Twiggs v. Williams*, 98 S.C. 431, 82 S.E. 676 (1914)). Where this occurs, the contract serving as the secondary document is not deprived of independent existence, extinguished, or otherwise changed by virtue of incorporation into the primary document. The secondary document is simply treated as if contained within the primary document, providing additional terms to that primary document.

In this instance, the Arbitration Agreements provided the incorporation language, stating that they were incorporated and made part of “all Contract(s)” between Love and Vanfossen or Davis. The definition of “Contracts” included as “any agreement . . . regarding the sale, lease,

financing, service or maintenance of the Vehicle.” (Aff. & Exhibit; R. 143, 145.) The Arbitration Agreement was, therefore, intended to provide additional terms *to the RISC, the Record of Purchase, and any other agreement* between Love and Vanfossen or Davis.

When the Arbitration Agreement was incorporated and made a part of all contracts between Love and Vanfossen or Davis, the Arbitration Agreement was not rendered a nullity, but remained in full force and effect. Indeed, the parties do not dispute that the Arbitration Agreement was incorporated into the RISCs. Love’s argument, however, is that the Arbitration Agreement was equally incorporated into the Records of Purchase, which the lower court erred in refusing to consider.

Kennamer v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 153 So.3d 752, 762-63 (Ala. 2014), cited by this Court in its *Sanders* opinion, involved similar facts and is instructive. *Kennamer*, like this case, involved both a RISC and a standalone arbitration agreement between the dealer and the purchasers. The court explained that the dealer’s assignment of all of its rights under the installment contract did extinguish any rights it had under that RISC. *Id.* at 762. **However**, the purchasers had also entered into a separate arbitration agreement with the dealership, and the Alabama Supreme Court affirmed the lower court’s compelling of arbitration of the purchasers’ claims against the dealership in light of that agreement. *Id.* at 763.

The same circumstances are present here. Love retained standalone Arbitration Agreements which were incorporated into both the RISCs and the Records of Purchase. Love relied on those Arbitration Agreements in seeking to compel arbitration, not the RISC. By incorporation of the standalone Arbitration Agreement into all contracts, the parties’ intent plainly was to reserve the parties’ ability to compel arbitration to the maximum extent possible. When Love assigned the RISC to GM Financial, Love may have lost its ability to compel arbitration

under the RISC, but that assignment did not affect in any way Love's ability to compel arbitration under the Arbitration Agreement or any of the contracts it did not assign, including the Records of Purchase. *See, e.g., Harnden v. Ford Motor Co.*, 408 F. Supp. 2d 300, 306 (E.D. Mich. 2004) (explaining that the subject standalone arbitration agreement could be enforced by dealer since the plaintiff was asserting warranty claims, not suing to enforce the retail installment contract).

Therefore, this Court should find that the circuit court erred in denying Love's motion to compel arbitration on the basis that assignment of the RISC affected Love's rights to compel arbitration under the Arbitration Agreement and/or Record of Purchase.

III. The circuit court erred by finding the Arbitration Agreement was assigned where there was no manifestation of intent by Love to do so.

The circuit court also erred because neither the Arbitration Agreement between Love and Vanfossen nor the RISC include a manifestation of an intent by Love to transfer the Arbitration Agreement to a third party.

When a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used, to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense. *C.A.N. Enters., Inc. v. South Carolina Health and Human Services Fin. Com'n*, 296 S.C. 373, 377, 373 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1988). Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal construction, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the parties' intent as found within the agreement and give effect to it. *Ebert v. Ebert*, 320 S.C. 331, 338, 465 S.E.2d 121, 125 (Ct. App. 1995).

An assignment of a right is a manifestation of the assignor's intention to transfer performance to an assignee and extinguish in whole or in part the assignor's right to that performance. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 219–20, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 317(1) (1981)). For an assignment to occur, in

addition to intent, there must be “(1) an assignor; (2) an assignee; and (3) transfer of control of the thing assigned from the assignor to the assignee.” *Donahue v. Multimedia, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 331, 338, 608 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2005).

The Arbitration Agreements between Love and the Plaintiffs contain no terms suggesting that Love intended to assign the Arbitration Agreements to any other party. (Aff. in Supp. & Exhibit; R. 145.) They do not list Love as an assignor, do not list an assignee, and do not indicate any intent by Love to transfer control of the Arbitration Agreement to any party. (*Id.*)

The RISC that Love and Vanfossen executed, by way of contrast, clearly and conspicuously provides: “Seller assigns its interest in *this contract* to GM Financial.” (Vanfossen RISC, Ex. B to Resp. in Opp’n; R. 109) (emphasis added). The RISC, then, plainly indicates an assignor (“Seller”), an assignee (“GM Financial”), and the contract assigned from the assignor to the assignee (“this contract”). (*See id.*) The words “this contract,” construed in their “plain, ordinary, and popular sense,” can only refer to the RISC. Therefore, under the terms of the assignment of the RISC, only the RISC was assigned. There is no such intent manifested in the Arbitration Agreements and the lower court erred in holding to the contrary.

IV. The circuit court erred by finding Plaintiffs’ claims arise under the RISC, not the Records of Purchase.

Vanfossen and Davis both executed several documents (“transaction documents”)⁴ to effectuate the purchase of their Silverados from Love. The primary transaction documents that

⁴ *See Tripp v. Charlie Falk’s Auto Wholesale Inc.*, 290 F. App’x 622, 623 (4th Cir. 2008) (identifying the primary transaction documents in the purchase of a 1994 Ford Taurus to include “the Buyer’s Order [equivalent to the Record of Purchase in this case]; the Motor Vehicle Installment Sale Contract, which included the Truth-in-Lending Disclosures, the Promissory Note, and the Security Agreement (the ‘credit contract’); the Re-Assignment of Title by Virginia Motor Vehicle Dealer Form (the ‘Re-Assignment Form’); a document entitled ‘Important Notice;’ and the Application for Certificate of Title and Registration.”).

were presented to the circuit court for consideration, however, were the Records of Purchase for the trucks along with Vanfossen’s RISC to finance his truck. Without citation to case law, statute, or any evidentiary support, and without any analysis, Plaintiffs and the circuit court assumed the RISC governs the underlying case: “As in nearly every vehicle transaction in this state where financing is involved, the primary contract document is a [RISC]. The RISC contains all terms of the purchase and financing.” (Pls.’ Resp. at 5; *see also* Order at 2 (adopting Plaintiffs’ self-serving statement almost verbatim, stating “[a]s customary in vehicle transactions in South Carolina, the primary contract document for the vehicle purchases is a [RISC].”); R. 91; 5.) The circuit court erred by failing to consider and address whether the Records of Purchase are the governing contracts.

A. Plaintiffs’ claims against Love do not arise out of a RISC.

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