THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Mar 11 2024

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Daniel Coble, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001034

Ethan Tyler Vanfossen and Corey J. Davis, on behalf of themselves and all others
similarly situated,..... Respondents,

v.

Love Chevrolet Company,..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Radeker Law, P.A.
Post Office Box 6903
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 500-0891
drew@radekerlaw.com

and

David A. Maxfield
S.C. Bar No. 7163
Post Office Box 11865
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1865
(803) 509-6800
dave@consumerlawsc.com

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

In HT of Highlands Ranch, the district court of New Jersey explained as follows the extinguishment of the right to arbitrate when the contract containing the arbitration clause is assigned:

In light of the fact that, prior to the commencement of this action, [the defendant] assigned its rights and obligations under the franchising agreements ..., the Court cannot, at this stage, conclude that "a valid agreement to arbitrate [presently] exists" "[W]hen an assignee assumes the liabilities of an assignor, it is bound by an arbitration clause in the underlying contract. Because "an assignment cannot alter a contract's bargained-for remedial measures," ... a corollary to the principle that an assignee is bound by the arbitration clause in an assigned contract is that "an assignment ordinarily extinguishes the right [of the assignor] to compel arbitration."

590 F. Supp. 2d at 684 (second and fourth alterations in original) (internal citations omitted); see Kennamer v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 153 So.3d 752, 762–63 (Ala. 2014) (explaining that because of a car dealership's assignment of a sales contract containing an arbitration clause to Ford Credit, Ford Credit could enforce the arbitration clause, but the dealership could not). Because Rick Hendrick Dodge assigned the RISC to Santander, we find all alleged rights arising from the contract, including the right to have an arbitrator determine

the arbitrability of the action and the right to arbitrate, were extinguished as to Appellants.

Sanders, 432 S.C. 332-34 (footnote omitted).

Here, the record reflects that Love Chevrolet assigned its interest in the retail installment sale contracts, into which the purported arbitration agreements were incorporated, to GM Financial, without qualification or retention of any rights, to arbitration or anything else.¹ (R p. 109.) As discussed above, enforceability of the purported arbitration agreement, including whether it is enforceable by Love Chevrolet post-assignment, was, unlike in Sanders, not a question delegated to an arbitrator. (R. pp. 141, 142.)

The trial court judge correctly applied the law to reach the correct decision.

b. The “arbitration agreement” does not contain necessary terms to be an agreement to arbitrate.

There is not one thing called *arbitration*, but many. Arbitration is an umbrella term for any kind of agreed-upon quasi-judicial alternative dispute resolution that proceeds according to some agreed-upon rules and procedures and in which a person (or group of people) chosen to be the arbitrator (or arbitrators) makes a merits-based decision of a controversy. See Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed), def. of *arbitration*. The breadth of the term *arbitration* matters to whether the parties here ever agreed to arbitration at all.

¹ Love Chevrolet argued in its motion to alter or amend that other contracts, not the retail installment sales contracts, were the controlling agreements, and it tried at that time to put those other contract documents before the court. (R. pp. 15-20, 73-74.) Neither this argument nor these documents was before the trial court at the time it ruled on Love Chevrolet’s motion to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 4-8, 15-20, 73-74.) They cannot be considered now, and this argument by Love Chevrolet is not preserved for review. See Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co., 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.”); Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC, 415 S.C. 321, 330 n. 7, 781 S.E.2d 737, 742 n. 7 (Ct. App. 2015) (trial court and Court of Appeals refused to consider evidence only presented with motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCP); Brailsford v. Brailsford, 380 S.C. 443, 669 S.E.2d 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2008) (party cannot use motion to alter or amend to present an issue that could have been raised before judgment but was not); Spreeuw v. Barker, 385 S.C. 45, 68-69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009) (stating evidence that first appeared as attachment to a Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion cannot be considered on appeal).

The party seeking to enforce an agreement to arbitrate has the burden of establishing the existence of a valid, enforceable arbitration agreement between the parties that covers the dispute at issue. See Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 149, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007); MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Christianson, 377 S.C. 210, 659 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2008). It is well established that “where one party denies the existence of an arbitration agreement raised by an opposing party, a court must immediately determine whether the agreement exists in the first place. If no agreement is found to exist, the court must deny any application to arbitrate.” Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007) (internal citation omitted).

“Under South Carolina law, a contract cannot be formed without a meeting of the minds between the parties as to all essential and material terms.” Simmons, 438 S.C. at 7; accord Doe, 430 S.C. at 611. This principle is just as applicable to contracts to arbitrate as it is to other contracts. Simmons, 438 S.C. at 7; Doe, 430 S.C. at 611.

Here, as the truck buyers’ counsel pointed out at the hearing, we do not really have that. (R p. 57 ln. 8 through p. 60 ln. 10, pp. 141, 142.) Our Supreme Court has said that contracts that purport to agree to a decision-making process that has no standards are too vague to be enforceable. Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 363 S.E.2d 891 (1987). That is what we have here. (R. pp. 141, 142.)

Actual arbitration agreements either create and delineate the terms of an arbitration process or, more commonly, establish what the process will be by agreeing to a set of rules that someone else has already created, such as the rules of the American Arbitration Association (AAA) or Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc. (JAMS). See, e.g., Aiken, 644 S.E.2d at 707 (example of such, agreeing to AAA commercial arbitration rules); Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 666

(same). There are a bevy of common variations of arbitration processes, and the parties are, of course, free to agree to use any of them or to agree on a process of their own making. What they cannot do is have an agreement to arbitrate without defining what arbitration is going to *be* under that agreement. Simmons, 438 S.C. at 7; Doe, 430 S.C. at 611. Merely agreeing to arbitration or binding arbitration is not enough. Simmons, 438 S.C. at 7; Doe, 430 S.C. at 611. Arbitration is an entire *kind* of dispute resolution process, of which there are infinite possible variations. It is as general a term as *fistfight* or *boxing*. (Bareknuckle? Queensbury Rules? To first blood? To the death? What about technical knockouts – even possible? Is kicking okay? Eye gouging? How about below the belt?) *Arbitration* is less specific than rock, paper, scissors, which at least has widely understood rules.

Here, there is no agreement to what the procedures of the arbitration shall be. (R. pp. 141, 142.) The closest this document comes is a statement that “[t]o the extent that the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Rules can be applied to binding arbitration, the parties and the arbitrator shall be guided by the processes of said ADR rules.” (R. pp. 141, 142.) But the ADR Rules do not set out procedures for arbitration. Rules 1-24, S.C. ADR Rules. The agreement references the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.*, but, as our state Supreme Court has recently noted, “the FAA does not furnish a set procedure for how the arbitration should go[.]” Hicks Unlimited, Inc. v. UniFirst Corp., 439 S.C. 623, 630, 889 S.E.2d 564, 567 (2023).

The document warns that “THE INFORMATION YOU AND WE MAY OBTAIN IN DISCOVERY FROM EACH OTHER IN ARBITRATION IS GENERALLY MORE LIMITED THAN IN A LAWSUIT.” (R. pp. 141, 142.) If nothing else has pointed out that parties to this document never actually agreed on an arbitration process, this should do it. What are the limits on

discovery under this arbitration agreement? Are there any? Is there going to be any discovery at all? This remains unsettled.

The document also states that “OTHER RIGHTS THAT YOU AND WE WOULD HAVE IN COURT MAY NOT BE AVAILABLE IN ARBITRATION.” (R. pp. 141, 142.) What rights? Procedural rights? Substantive rights? Are these unspecified rights actually going to be available, unavailable, or what? No one knows, and there is nothing to which the parties can refer to find out. (R. pp. 141, 142.)

There is also no agreement to how the arbitrator is to be selected – also a typical term in an arbitration agreement, and for good reason – only that “[t]he arbitrator shall be an attorney or retired judge.” (R. pp. 141, 142.) What if the parties do not agree on who the arbitrator will be? How is the arbitrator to be chosen then? Does the arbitration just never happen, while the parties remain locked out of court? The arbitration agreement document does not say. (R. pp. 141, 142.)

Essential terms are missing. No “meeting of the minds between the parties as to all essential and material terms” of an arbitration agreement has been shown. Simmons, 438 S.C. at 7; accord Doe, 430 S.C. at 611. Love Chevrolet failed to carry its burden to establish the existence of an agreement to arbitrate, most glaringly because one was never struck. See Aiken, 373 S.C. at 149. “If no agreement is found to exist, the court must deny any application to arbitrate.” Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 667.

Love Chevrolet’s failure to prove a meeting of the minds as to arbitration provides another reason why the trial court judge made the right decision.

c. To enforce the “agreement” would be unconscionable and violate public policy.

In the event that this court finds an agreement to arbitrate actually existed, the uncertainties created by the missing important terms noted above, coupled with some quite troubling terms of

the agreement and its nature as an adhesion contract, point to the unconscionability of this agreement between a large retailer of automobiles and the ordinary citizens who are the truck buyers.

At its core, unconscionability is defined "as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms which are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them." Fanning v. Fritz's Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc., 322 S.C. 399, 403, 472 S.E.2d 242, 245 (1996); 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 272 (2016) (characterizing these two prongs as procedural and substantive unconscionability, respectively); see also id. § 271 ("Generally, the doctrine of unconscionability protects against unfair bargains and unfair bargaining practices"). This general description of unconscionability applies to all contract terms, not merely arbitration provisions. . . .

A determination of whether a contract is unconscionable depends upon all the facts and circumstances of the case. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kennedy, 398 S.C. 604, 614, 730 S.E.2d 862, 867 (2012) (citation omitted). Indeed, we have previously emphasized the importance of a case-by-case analysis in order to address the unique circumstances inherent in the various types of consumer transactions. In analyzing claims of unconscionability in the context of arbitration agreements, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has instructed courts to focus generally on whether the arbitration clause is geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker.

Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, 437 S.C. 596, 611-12, 879 S.E.2d 746, 754-55 (2022) (some internal citations and citation-related punctuation omitted).

“Whether one party lacks a meaningful choice . . . typically speaks to the fundamental fairness of the bargaining process.” Id. at 613 (quoting D.R. Horton, 417 S.C. at 49). There are a number of factors our state Supreme Court has said should be taken into account “in determining whether an absence of meaningful choice taints a contract term, such as an arbitration provision, courts must consider, among all facts and circumstances, the relative disparity in the parties' bargaining power, the parties' relative sophistication, and whether the plaintiffs are a substantial

business concern of the defendant.” Id. “[C]ourts should take into account the nature of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff; whether the plaintiff is a substantial business concern; the relative disparity in the parties' bargaining power; the parties' relative sophistication; whether there is an element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause; and the conspicuousness of the clause.” Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 669.

Here, factors our appellate courts have examined point toward an absence of meaningful choice. This is a consumer transaction, and consumer transactions receive heightened scrutiny in this context (for both prongs of the unconscionability analysis). See Damico, 437 S.C. at 621; Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 674.

This purported arbitration agreement arose out of individuals’ purchases of personal automobiles, and “automobiles are a common and necessary adjunct of daily life[.]” Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 674 (quoting Henningsen v. Bloomfield Motors, Inc., 32 N.J. 358, 161 A2d 69, 85 (1960)). They are “critically important in modern day society.” Id. at 670. The consumer’s *need* for the product subject of a transaction weighs significantly in the unconscionability analysis. Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 669-70; see Damico, 437 S.C. at 621 (heightened scrutiny warranted for contract to sell home to consumer).

The relative sophistication of the parties also points toward a lack of meaningful choice. Love Chevrolet is in the business of automobile sales on a large scale; the truck buyers are just ordinary guys. (R. pp. 27-34.) Our Supreme Court considered similar situations indicative of no meaningful choice on the part of consumers. Damico, 437 S.C. at 614-15; Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 670.

Love Chevrolet’s pre-printed form, presented as required for the automobile purchase, in small print (R. pp. 141-42), is an adhesion contract, defined as “a standard form contract offered

on a ‘take-it-or-leave it’ basis with terms that are not negotiable.” Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 669. Adhesion contracts are not *per se* unconscionable, but they do usually point to an absence of meaningful choice by the party to whom they were presented. Damico, 437 S.C. at 613-14; Simpson, 644 S.E.2d at 669. “[G]iven that one party to an adhesion contract has virtually no voice in the formulation of the terms and language used in the contract, courts tend to view adhesive arbitration agreements with considerable skepticism, as it remains doubtful any true agreement ever existed to submit disputes to arbitration.” Damico, 437 S.C. at 613 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

There is no evidence here that *does* point to the truck buyers having had a meaningful choice about whether to enter into the claimed arbitration agreements, and there is a whole lot of evidence that they had none.

That does not end the inquiry, as “*adhesive contracts are not unconscionable in and of themselves so long as the terms are even-handed.*” Damico, 437 S.C. at 614 (emphasis in original). Here, they are not.

Let us look at these terms and see whether they are “so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” Damico, 437 S.C. at 611.

First, we point out the nebulous nature of this “agreement.” If it is actually an agreement, the consumer has signed on to a vague process, in which he does not know and does not control who the decisionmaker will be, in which he may not have all the rights he would have in court but cannot know all the rights he has waived, in which his discovery rights will probably be limited to an uncertain extent, and in which his right to appeal is limited to some unknown degree – if the arbitration ever happens, which it easily could not if the parties do not agree on an arbitrator. (R.

pp. 141, 142.) What reasonable person would sign on to such an agreement? No reasonable person would.

The document provides that the arbitration hearing “will be conducted exclusively in Dealer’s county of residence” – no matter where the customer may be or where the conduct giving rise to the dispute occurred. (R. pp. 141, 142.) Since it will be conducted *exclusively* in that county, it cannot be held elsewhere, even if there are compelling reasons to do so. (R. pp. 141, 142.)

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